In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

ELVIN CABRERA,

On Habeas Corpus.

SUPREME COURT
Case No. S197283

MAR 1 4 2012 Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F059511 Kern County Superior Court, Case No. HC011446A

OPENING BRIEF

CRC 8.25(b)

KAMALA D. HARRIS Attorney General of California DANE R. GILLETTE Chief Assistant Attorney General DONALD E. DENICOLA Deputy Solicitor General JENNIFER A. NEILL Senior Assistant Attorney General ANYA M. BINSACCA Supervising Deputy Attorney General AMY DANIEL Deputy Attorney General State Bar No. 246884 1300 I Street, Suite 125 P.O. Box 944255 Sacramento, CA 94244-2550 Telephone: (916) 322-6105 Fax: (916) 322-8288

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeal erroneously expand the obligations on the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR) under its own regulations when it held that, before the prison may classify an inmate as a gang affiliate, there must be evidence of a "mutual relationship" between a known gang affiliate and the inmate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2002, Elvin Cabrera was convicted of robbery, burglary, and receiving stolen property. (*In re Cabrera* (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 1548, 1556.) He was sentenced to 62 years to life in prison. (*Ibid.*) During the time-frame relevant to this case, Cabrera was housed at the California Correctional Institution, in the custody of respondent, Warden Michael Stainer. (*Ibid.*)

On May 13, 2008, Cabrera was "validated," or officially identified, as an associate of the Mexican Mafia prison gang. (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1559.) Under CDCR's regulations, an inmate may be validated as an associate or member of a prison gang based on pieces of evidence, or "source items," indicative of prison-gang affiliation. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378, subd. (c)(3-4).) There are thirteen different categories of source items, such as "symbols," "written material," "association," and "informants." (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(8).) These different categories were developed by CDCR based on its experience with prison-gang operations. For example, CDCR has learned that prison gangs develop unique iconographies, adopting symbols for identification and communication. "Symbols" is therefore designated as a source-item category. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(8)(B).) Three source items are required for validation. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(3-4).) Additionally, one of the three source items must also provide a "direct link" between the inmate being

considered for validation and a currently or formerly validated prison-gang affiliate. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(3-4).) Under CDCR's construction of the regulation, "direct link" means a straight-forward connection between the inmate and the affiliate. (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1564-1565.)

Initial research into whether an inmate may be affiliated with a prison gang is conducted at individual prisons by Institution Gang Investigators, CDCR officers who specialize in prison gangs. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378, subd. (c), (c)(2).) The evidentiary basis of any source item discovered is documented and disclosed to the inmate being considered for validation, unless disclosure would pose a safety or security threat. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(6)(C), (c)(8)(A-M).) The inmate is given at least 24 hours to prepare a response, and is interviewed. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(6).) The materials prepared by the gang investigators and the inmate's input may then be submitted to the Office of Correctional Safety for review. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(6)(A).) That office renders final decisions either validating or rejecting inmates as prison-gang affiliates. If an inmate disagrees with a validation decision, he may challenge it through CDCR's three-tiered administrative appeals system. (*Id.* at § 3084.1.)

Cabrera's validation as a Mexican Mafia associate was based on several photocopied drawings containing symbols distinctive of that prison gang discovered in his cell on April 8, 2008. (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1557-1559.) One drawing bore the name of a Mexican Mafia associate. (*Id.* at p. 1558.) Another drawing, featuring meso-American and imprisonment themes, bore the name of a different Mexican Mafia member. (*Ibid.*) Pursuant to CDCR's validation process, and based

¹ Respondent will use the term "affiliate" to refer collectively to prison gang associates and members.

on their training and experience, the prison's gang investigators recommended that the Office of Correctional Safety validate Cabrera as a Mexican Mafia associate. (*Id.* at pp. 1557-1559.) The Office of Correctional Safety found that the drawings in Cabrera's possession constituted sufficient "symbol" and "association" source items to validate him. (*Id.* at p. 1559.) The direct link for Cabrera's validation was supplied by the drawings bearing the names of Mexican Mafia affiliates. (*Id.* at pp. 1557-1558.) Under CDCR's analysis, the criteria for validation was satisfied; the drawings qualified as source items, and the inclusion of the gang affiliates' names supplied a straight-forward connection between Cabrera and those affiliates.

Cabrera challenged his validation though CDCR's administrative appeal process. (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1560.) His appeal was denied. (*Ibid.*) Cabrera then filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Kern County Superior Court. (*Ibid.*) The superior court denied the petition based on its finding that the validation decision was supported by three source items containing two direct links to prison-gang affiliates. (*Ibid.*)

Cabrera then filed an original petition with the California Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District. (*Id.* at pp. 1552-1553, 1560.) On September 8, 2011, the appellate court granted Cabrera's petition in a published opinion. (*Id.* at pp. 1553, 1572.) The court overturned Cabrera's validation based on its determination that the record, insofar as it was properly cognizable, did not contain a "direct link" because it did not establish that Cabrera and a Mexican Mafia affiliate had a "mutual relationship." (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1552-1553, 1566-1567.) The court accepted CDCR's position that the term "direct link" means a connection without interruption, but rejected CDCR's position that a direct link can be established by an inmate's own actions. (*Id.* at

pp. 1564-1565.) The court held that, where the direct link is drawn from an "association" source item, evidence of "mutual or two-way" interaction is required. (*Id.* at pp. 1566-1567.) It then found that Cabrera's possession of the drawings containing Mexican Mafia symbols and bearing the names of Mexican Mafia affiliates "does not establish that Cabrera actually had a mutual relationship, even a loose one, with [those affiliates]." (*Id.* at p. 1568.) In reaching that conclusion, the court declined to consider information submitted by a CDCR prison-gang expert explaining that prison-gang affiliates keep copies of artwork by other affiliates to demonstrate their allegiance to the gang and to establish the credibility of their standing in the gang. (*Id.* at pp. 1555 & fn. 3, 1560, 1568.) Rather, the court drew its own conclusions as to the drawings' significance by comparing them to an inmate's possession of copied artworks by a nongang affiliated professional artist or published cartoonist, or Adolph Hitler. (*Id.* at p. 1569.)

The appellate court ordered CDCR to expunge Cabrera's validation, report the expungement to any law enforcement databases to which it was reported, and cease assigning him to maximum security housing based on the validation. (Cabrera, supra, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1572.) Initially, the appellate court also ordered CDCR to "remove all documents related to the validation from Cabrera's prison file." In a petition for rehearing the Warden argued, among other things, that the court had erroneously added proof of a mutual relationship shown by reciprocal interaction as a prerequisite to the validation process, and that the court-ordered remedy improperly precluded CDCR from considering, in determining how to classify and house Cabrera in the future, the undisputed fact that Cabrera had possessed the drawings containing Mexican Mafia symbols and affiliates' names. The court modified its opinion to eliminate the order for CDCR to expunge all documentation of the validation. (In re Cabrera

(Oct. 6, 2011) No. F059511, 2011 WL 4637502 [mod. order].) The opinion otherwise remained unchanged, and the court denied the Warden's petition for rehearing. (*Ibid.*)

The Warden petitioned this Court for review and requested depublication of the appellate court's opinion. The Court granted review on December 14, 2011.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In reviewing CDCR's decision to validate Cabrera as a Mexican Mafia associate, the appellate court interpreted CDCR's validation regulation as requiring evidence of a mutual relationship, shown by reciprocal interaction, between Cabrera and a validated Mexican Mafia affiliate. The validity of CDCR's regulation is reviewable under due process principles. That review, however, did not permit the appellate court to expand CDCR's regulation. CDCR's construction of its own regulation is entitled to deference; it is rational and therefore constitutional.

The appellate court did not establish that CDCR's regulation violated Cabrera's due process rights. Rather, it exceeded the bounds of due process and improperly expanded CDCR's obligations in identifying inmates as prison-gang affiliates. The appellate court's opinion must therefore be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. CDCR'S VALIDATION REGULATION IS A VALID EXERCISE OF ITS AUTHORITY TO CREATE RULES FOR PRISON MANAGEMENT, AND CDCR'S JUDGMENT IN CREATING THAT REGULATION IS ENTITLED TO DEFERENCE.

The Court of Appeal interpreted CDCR's regulation as requiring evidence of a mutual relationship to validate an inmate as a prison-gang affiliate. (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1566-1568.) The appellate court examined the meanings of three terms from the regulation—

"direct," "link," and "association"—and further examined the meaning of those terms when "combined" in the regulation. (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1564-1567.) The court accepted CDCR's plain-meaning definitions of the individual terms, but found that when combined, they require evidence of a "mutual relationship," shown by "reciprocal (i.e., mutual or two-way) interaction," between an inmate being considered for validation and a gang affiliate as a prerequisite to validation. (*Ibid.*)

The court erred in several respects in doing so. First, the regulation should have been upheld because CDCR adopted a rational scheme for identifying prison-gang affiliates based on its experience with the realities of prison-gang operations; the appellate court erred in affording no deference to CDCR's authority or expertise. Second, even if the appellate court properly determined that the regulation was arbitrary, it should have simply stricken the regulation, rather than effectively redrafting the regulation to impose a different evidentiary requirement that is impracticable and ill-advised given the secrecy and complexity of prisongang operations.

A. CDCR's Validation Regulation Is a Rational Exercise of Its Authority and Discretion.

Agency regulations come in two classes: interpretative regulations—created to effectuate a statute—and quasi-legislative regulations—adopted under an agency's rule-making authority delegated by the Legislature. (Sara M. v. Super. Ct. (2005) 36 Cal.4th 998, 1012.) The type of regulation determines the applicable level of judicial review. (Ibid.) Where regulations implement a statute, the agency's construction is persuasive, but the ultimate question of interpretation lies with the courts. (Ibid.) Where regulations are quasi-legislative, however, the scope of judicial review is "very limited." (Ibid.; Yamaha Corp. v. St. Bd. of Equalization (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 10-12 [noting that regulations adopted under quasi-legislative

authority command much greater deference than regulations implementing statutes].)

Here, the regulation is quasi-legislative. CDCR implemented the gang-validation regulation pursuant to its broad, delegated authority to create rules and regulations for prison administration. (Pen. Code, § 5058, subd. (a); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378.) The regulation does not interpret or apply a statute; there is no statute governing prison-gang identifications or prison-gang management. CDCR's judgment in adopting its validation regulation is therefore entitled to deference, and must stand unless it is beyond CDCR's statutory authority, or is arbitrary and capricious. (*In re Jenkins* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1167, 1176; *Yamaha*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 10-11; *Morris v. Williams* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 733, 748-749.)

Due process demands simply that quasi-legislative regulations, such as CDCR's validation regulation, be rational. (*Jenkins*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at p. 1181.) Due-process review does not inquire as to what a regulatory policy should be—the function of judicial review is "to inquire into the legality of [] regulations, not their wisdom." (*Morris*, *supra*, 67 Cal.2d at p. 737; see also *Copley Press, Inc. v. Super. Ct.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1272, 1298-1299.) This limited review appropriately observes "deference to the separation of powers between the Legislature and the judiciary, to the legislative delegation of administrative authority to the agency, and to the presumed expertise of the agency within its scope of authority." (*San Francisco Fire Fighters Local 798 v. San Francisco* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 653, 667.)

CDCR's plain purpose in adopting its validation regulation was to identify prison-gang affiliates in the inmate population. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378, subd. (a), (c).) The regulation is not arbitrary or capricious; it rationally serves this purpose. The regulation specifies thirteen different

types of source items that may indicate prison-gang affiliation. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378, subd. (c)(8).) CDCR designated these source-item categories based on its practical experience in combating prison gangs. CDCR employs officers and agents who specialize in prison-gang investigations, receive training in prison-gang operations, and participate in state-wide and nation-wide gang task forces. CDCR's knowledge is continually updated as new information is discovered. That information base is developed through such day-to-day work as probing gang-related incidents of violence, interviewing gang affiliates who are quitting their gangs, and routine searches of inmates and cells. Through its efforts CDCR has gained specialized knowledge of prison gangs, which allowed it to craft a regulation designed to effectively identify prison-gang affiliates.

In the case at hand, for example, Cabrera was validated based on his possession of copied drawings containing two symbols, the matlactlomei (three dots and two lines translating to "thirteen" in Nahuatl) and the eternal war shield (an Aztec design), and the names "Fermin" and "F. Bermudez" (both validated Mexican Mafia affiliates). (Cabrera, supra, 198

Cal.App.4th at pp. 1557-1559.) From its experience, CDCR has identified the matlactlomei and the eternal war shield as symbols used by the Mexican Mafia to identify itself. (Ibid.) CDCR is also aware that gang affiliates use such copied artwork by other gang affiliates to demonstrate gang allegiance and credibility within the gang. (Id. at pp. 1555 & fn. 3, 1560, 1568.)

CDCR thus has included possession of symbols and gang affiliates' names as types of evidence that constitute source items. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378, subd. (c)(8)(B, G).) Those source item designations thus are not irrational, but logically based on CDCR's knowledge of prison gangs.

Gang investigators follow the validation regulation in documenting evidence of any source items discovered regarding individual inmates, and based on their training and experience explain why the evidence indicates gang affiliation. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378, subd. (c)(8)(A-M).) To validate an inmate, CDCR requires at least three independent source items. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(2).) Requiring three items logically increases the accuracy of a validation decision. Additionally, at least one source item must contain a direct link to a currently or formerly validated prison-gang affiliate. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(3-4).) The "direct link" language simply requires that the source item show a straight-forward connection between the inmate being considered for validation and a validated affiliate. (*Id.* at § 3378, subd. (c)(3-4); *Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1564-1565.) Using plain language to define a term is not arbitrary. (See *Brewer v. Patel* (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 1017, 1021 [interpreting regulation begins with affording usual meaning to language used].) Requiring a simple direct link also logically increases the accuracy of validation decisions, by connecting the inmate to an individual gang affiliate rather than just to the gang as an abstract whole.

Moreover, a validation decision is not based solely on one prisongang investigator's viewpoint. The inmate may rebut the source items, adding contrary information for consideration. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3378, subd. (c)(6).) Additionally, a validation decision receives multiple levels of review, as the evidence initially developed by prison-gang investigators is reviewed by the Office of Correctional Safety for a final decision and subject to review through CDCR's inmate appeals process. (*Ibid.*; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 3084.1.)

This regulatory scheme is not arbitrary, capricious, or irrational. Rather, it is logically geared toward identifying prison-gang affiliates based on CDCR's expertise in prison-gang operations, and provides inmates facing validation with a large quantity of procedural protections. It is therefore a valid exercise of CDCR's quasi-legislative authority and does not violate Cabrera's due process rights.

B. The Responsibility for Determining How Best to Identify Prison-Gang Affiliates Lies with CDCR.

The Court of Appeal did not apply the due process standards cited above to review the validation regulation's validity. (Generally, *Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1548.) It simply substituted, in derogation of CDCR's expertise and responsibility, its own judgment of what the validation regulation should require. The court did not make any findings that the regulation failed to reasonably lead to the identification of prisongang affiliates, or was otherwise irrational. (*Ibid.*) Rather, the court found that the combined terms "direct link" and "association" "must involve reciprocal (i.e., mutual or two-way) interaction" between the inmate being considered for validation and a validated gang affiliate. (*Id.* at pp. 1566-1567.) The court simply reasoned that "[o]therwise, a validated gang affiliate could create [an associational] relationship with an inmate unilaterally, without any assent or mutuality on the part of the inmate." (*Id.* at p. 1567.)

The court cited no evidence that prison-gang affiliates unilaterally create one-sided associations with other inmates. (Generally, *Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1567.) More importantly, the potential for some error under a regulation does not render it irrational. As long as there are some conceivable facts reasonably supporting a regulatory rule, it is rational. (*FCC v. Beach Communications, Inc.* (1993) 508 U.S. 307, 313 [reciting standard that a rule is rational "if there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification"]; *Dandridge v. Williams* (1970) 397 U.S. 471, 485 ["A statutory discrimination will not be set aside if any state of facts reasonably may be conceived to justify it."]; see also *Jenkins*, *supra*, 50 Cal.4th at p. 1181 [incorporating equal protection rational-basis review standards into due process rationality analysis].) The court's speculation does not

establish that the regulation, as proffered by CDCR, utterly fails to aid in identifying prison-gang affiliates. Indeed, the court acknowledged that the regulation is not inherently irrational absent a reciprocity requirement—it observed that "it is possible that the mutual relationship establishing a direct link through association can be inferred from evidence of unilateral action by one of the persons in that relationship. In practice, whether such an inference can be drawn in a particular situation will depend upon the facts and circumstances of that case." (*Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1567.) If it is possible to establish a direct link without evidence of reciprocal interaction, then CDCR's regulation is rational and the court's inquiry should have ended there.

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