### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re

**ELVIN CABRERA** 

on Habeas Corpus.

Case No. S197283

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 2 4 2012

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. Fo59511 Kern County Superior Court, Case No. HC011446A Deputy CRC 8.25(b)

#### **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

MICHAEL SATRIS
State Bar # 67413
Post Office Box 337
Bolinas, CA. 94924

Telephone: (415) 868-9209

Fax:

(415) 868-2658

Email:

satris@sbcglobal.net

Attorney for Petitioner ELVIN CABRERA

By appointment of the California Supreme Court

### TOPICAL

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

as faulty as would be a determination that Cabrera's possession of the photocopied drawing by Mary Trujillo constituted "a direct link" between them.

Respondent focuses on the court's elaboration on the meaning of "association" in this context to undermine its holding: "[T]he court found that the combined terms 'direct link' and 'association' 'must involve reciprocal (i.e. mutual or two-way interaction) between the inmate being considered for validation and a validated gang affiliate." (Opening Brief, p. 10.) It is unclear what respondent's critique of the Court of Appeal's reasoning here is. Whether one calls the associational relationship reciprocal, mutual, or some other adjective that connotes the participation or assent of both parties, a direct link between a gang affiliate and another can hardly be asserted without evidence of some interaction between them, no matter how attenuated. "Under CDCR's analysis, ... the inclusion of the gang affiliates' names supplied a straight-forward connection between Cabrera and those affiliates." (Opening Brief, p. 3.) The problem with CDCR's analysis is that there was no evidence of any connection between them — straight-forward, loose, or otherwise — that brought them together as partners, friends, colleagues, comrades, associates, or what-have-you.

Respondent's attack on the "mutuality" aspect of the regulatory requirement of a direct link when used as a source item of association is a red herring. This can be seen by omitting the concepts of reciprocity, mutuality, unilateral, etc.

from the court's discussion of "what is meant by 'direct link' when the source item used is the inmate's 'association with validated gang affiliates.' (§ 3378, subd. (c)(8)(G).)" (*In re Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1566.) Cabrera does so here, to wit:

[W]hen the association criterion in subdivision (c)(8)(G) of section 3378 is used to meet this direct link requirement, the resulting combination can be described as follows: At least one source item must provide a connection without interruption or any intervening agency or step in the form of a loose relationship between the inmate and the validated gang affiliate. The relationship, whether characterized as one of partners, colleagues, friends, companions, or allies, must involve ... interaction between the two individuals forming the relationship....

(*In re Cabrera, supra*, 198 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1566-1567.) In sum, the court reasonably construed the regulation to require some evidence of interaction between the two when a source item identified as a "direct link" is being used to show their association. Again, "CDCR asserts the appropriate definition of the word 'association' [in this context] ... means to have a 'loose relationship as a partner, fellow worker, colleague, friend, companion, or ally' with gang affiliates." (*Id.* at p. 1565.) Here, because there was no showing of any contact or interaction between Cabrera and the artists in question, the drawings failed to establish any kind of association with or relationship between the two.

Again, there is no evidence that Cabrera knew the authors/artists of the photocopied drawings in his possession signed by Fermin Garcia (Exh. A) or Fernando Bermudez (Exh. B) any more than he knew Mary Trujillo of La Puente, California, the artist who drew the Eternal War Shield published in *Lowrider Magazine* (Inf. Resp. filed 4-15-12, Exh. 4, p. 3), or the anonymous artist who drew the "Matlactlomei" symbol embedded in the sombrero of the young woman in that drawing (Exh. C). Nor was there evidence that Cabrera had any kind of relationship or interaction with the artists of any of the other photocopied drawings in his collection of Aztec artwork. (See Exh. J [18 pages of artwork in Cabrera's possession at time of Operation Swift Response].) As the Court of Appeal explained:

If a prisoner had a photocopy of a painting signed by David Hockney, a drawing or watercolor signed by Adolf Hitler (perhaps the most infamous failed artist of the 20<sup>th</sup> century), or a Doonesbury cartoon containing Garry Trudeau's signature, that photocopy would not adequately support the inference that the prisoner had a ... relationship with Hockney, Hitler, or Trudeau. Concluding the inmate actually had a ... relationship with these artists would be based merely on speculation or hunch. (See *In re Lawrence*, [supra, 44 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1213] ["some evidence" standard requires more than a hunch or intuition].)

(*In re Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1569 [ellipses replacing "mutual" throughout].)

Support for the court's decision that Cabrera's possession of the photocopied artwork in question did not provide any evidence that he had any kind of direct link to or relationship with the affiliated authors of the original artwork that served to validate him as an active gang affiliate is bolstered by consideration of all the facts surrounding his possession of them, including:

- The drawing by Garcia was made in 2000, some three years before his validation and some eight years before it was used for Cabrera's validation.<sup>12</sup>
- Bermudez, to whom the undated drawing was ascribed, has been locked up as an affiliate since

Notably, if the Department had discovered a photograph dated 2000 of Cabrera and Garcia smiling arm-in arm, it could not have used it as a source item because Garcia at that time and for the six months thereafter had not been validated as an affiliate. (See § 3178, subd. (c)(8) ["Any photograph being utilized as a source item that depicts gang members and/or associates shall require that at least one of the individuals be previously validated by the department, or validated as a member or associate of the gang by the department within six (6) months of the photograph's established or estimated date of origin."].) Indeed, even if that photograph depicted them as also flashing gang signs with "EME Forever" emblazoned in the background, the Department could not use it as a source item due to its staleness. (See *ibid*. ["No photograph shall be considered for validation purposes that is estimated to be older than six (6) years."].) Given these regulatory constraints, it was arbitrary for the Department to use the considerably more indirect and attenuated evidence of the names on the photocopied drawings in question as source items establishing "direct links" to and association with the named affiliates.

- 1995 years and years before Cabrera was even committed to prison.
- Cabrera has no history of prison or street gang affiliation.
- Cabrera's conduct has been fully conforming for years in the prison's main population on his current term, without any suggestion of gang affiliation.
- Cabrera was 44 years old at the time he was validated, an age well beyond that of typical gang recruits.
- The drawings in question had been subjected to repeated inspection by prison officials without any suggestion of gang concern on their part or warning to dispose of those pictures.
- Cabrera is not even Mexican, but Cuban.
- There was no overt EME connotation on the face of the drawings recognizable by anyone lacking specialized or esoteric knowledge of the EME.
- Cabrera was a longtime participant in the prison art program, in connection which he had amassed a collection of ancient and modern Aztec drawings that numbered more than a hundred, including the four drawings in question that were thematically consistent with the others in to his collection.

- Not a single report, whether from a confidential informant or otherwise, ever has tied Cabrera to gang association or gang activity.
- The Department refused his many requests for a polygraph examination.
- Cabrera sought to avoid the gang validation by practically the only route available to him – debriefing with an autobiography of his criminal activity.

Respondent argues that "the court's opinion requires evidence equivalent to a handshake between an inmate and a gang affiliate to show a direct link" and that such a requirement does not account for the fact that "[o]bscuring activities and interactions is a basic goal for any criminally oriented group." (Opening Brief, p. 12.) That argument is greatly overstated.

The court's decision does not require evidence that would "impede CDCR in its critical effort to combat prison-gang activity" (Opening Brief, p. 13), for that decision was expressly limited to the following fact pattern:

To avoid ambiguity in the precedent established by this opinion, we explicitly identify the facts material to our conclusion.

First, the following material facts were included in the information contained in the general chronos: (1) The documents possessed by Cabrera were photocopies, not originals, of the artists' drawings, (2) the artists' original signatures had not been placed on the

photocopies, (3) the name "FERMIN" appears in one drawing and he made the drawing, (4) Fermin Garcia is a validated associate of the EME, (5) the name "F. BERMUDEZ" appears in the other drawing and he made the drawing, and (6) Fernando Bermudez is a validated member of EME.

Second, the following omissions of information are material to this case. The general chronos did not document or disclose the basis of a relationship between Cabrera and either artist.

(In re Cabrera, supra, 198 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1569.)

The court's explicit identification of the facts material to its conclusion gives the Department free reign to exercise its judgment in any other case with different material facts. Indeed, the court noted that judicial review of a gang validation regulation must be based on the "circumstances" of each individual case and asks the question whether those particular facts "supported the inference of [gang] involvement." (*Id.* at p. 1570.) In short, while a court gives deference to the "professional judgment of prison administrators," it does not give controlling deference to their judgment of "how the regulation should function" (Opening Brief, p. 13) when that judgment has caused an arbitrary and capricious deprivation of liberty.

B. The Department Arbitrarily Found That the Aztec Drawings Containing Mesoamerican Symbols Common to that Culture Were an EME Source Item Here Simply Because the EME Had Appropriated Them.

The arbitrariness of the Department's application of section 3378, subdivision (c) to validate Cabrera is also revealed by its finding of the third "source item" in the other two drawings that contained symbols it ascribed to the EME. The third CDC form 128-B used to validate Cabrera (Exh. C) concerned photocopies of two drawings. Each drawing contains one symbol (a Matlactlomei and an Eternal War Shield. respectively) that are known by the Department "as being symbolic to membership/association with the Mexican Mafia." (Opening Brief, p. 1; see also In re Cabrera, supra, 198 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at pp. 1558-1559.) "Cabrera obtained the copy of the drawing containing the war shield symbol by photocopying it directly from Lowrider Magazine, a publication allowed to be received by any CCI inmate." (In re Cabrera, supra, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1559.) Like the Eternal War Shield, the Matlactlomei is a common symbol of the ancient Aztec culture.

It was manifestly arbitrary for the Department to allow Cabrera to receive artwork from such sources as *Lowrider Magazine* and then turn around to use copies of that same artwork as evidence he wrongly possessed indicia of the EME. (See § 3134.1 ["All magazines and newspapers shall be inspected prior to issuance to ensure that they comply with sections 3006 [disallowance of "contraband" that tends to incite

any form of violence or physical harm to any group or "contains coded messages"]; 3134 [General Mail Regulations] and 3135 [disallowance of any mail that tends to incite any form of violence or physical harm to any group or "contains coded messages"].) Under section 3378, subdivision (c)(8)(B), such symbols must be "distinctive to specific gangs" and "distinctive of gang association or membership"].) Because the symbols in the drawing here at issue here were distinctive of the Aztec culture and simply appropriated by the EME, Cabrera's mere possession of them did not reliably show EME association. (See, e.g., Lira v. Cate, supra, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 91292 at 61 [given "the fact that the Huelga bird and the number '14' are symbols associated with Mexican-Americans and not exclusive to the Northern Structure, the drawing was not a reliable validation source"]; see also ibid. ["[T]he Court finds that the drawing does not contain a Northern Star, and that the other symbols — the '14' and the Huelga bird — are obscure and of ambiguous meaning. The Court finds that the drawing is not reliable evidence of plaintiff's affiliation with the Northern Structure prison gang."].) Particularly in Cabrera's case, where these drawings were among numerous other drawings in his collection distinctive of the Aztec culture but unrelated to the EME, was the Department's finding that these two drawings comprised a source item of EME association arbitrary.

For these reasons, the symbols in the two drawings comprising source item three fail to reliably indicate Cabrera's

allegiance to or association with the EME. Thus, the drawings fail as a source item – leaving the Department without the requisite three source items necessary under its regulation to validate Cabrera as an EME associate. This failure of evidence is sufficient to sustain the lower court's finding that the Cabrera's validation met neither the regulatory nor the constitutional requirements for validation and thus could not stand. That finding entitled him to the relief granted him under the judgment, even if the other two items are deemed reliable "direct links" associating him with the EME.

C. <u>Validation of Cabrera Based on His Collection</u> of Artwork Did Not Meet the Regulatory Requirement that Validation Must Be Based on Three *Independent* Source Items.

"The quantity of evidence that the investigator needs to identify an inmate as a gang member or associate is specified in the regulation. ... The identification of an inmate as a gang associate 'requires at least three (3) independent source items of documentation indicative of association with validated gang members or associates.... (§ 3378, subd. (c)(4).)" (*In re Cabrera*, *supra*, 198 Cal.App.4th at p. 1561.) The Court of Appeal found it unnecessary to address the question whether Cabrera's art collection comprised one source item or three source items, since its conclusion of a lack of a "direct link" was dispositive of Cabrera's entitlement to relief; it accordingly found that resolution of that question could "await another day." (*Id.* at p. 1571.) Cabrera submits that day has come in the

event that this Court finds that the artwork included a direct link to an EME affiliate, since the lack of three source items would equally entitle Cabrera to the relief he requested.

Accordingly, he addresses that question here. 18

In fact, there is a single source item here; namely, Cabrera's photocopied collection of Aztec ancient and modern art drawings. It was arbitrary for the Department to artificially divide up that collection into three separate source items to meet its regulatory obligation to "ensure that the identification of an inmate/parolee as a currently active gang member or associate is supported by at least three *independent* source items ...." (§ 3378, subd. (c)(2) (emphasis added).)

<sup>18</sup> Cabrera raised this issue in his answer to the petition for review, asking that "this Court also consider the issues the Court of Appeal did not decide," including specifically "whether the drawings found in petitioner's possession constituted three independent source items ...." (Answer, p. 8.) (Compare In re Rosenkrantz, supra, 29 Cal.4th at p. 636 [noting the "petitioner did not timely raise the point in his answer to the Governor's petition for review," citing Cal. Rules of Court, rule 28(e) (now Rule 8.516)].) Even if Cabrera had not raised the issue in his answer brief, "it is appropriate to exercise our discretion to resolve this issue" (ibid.) for the same reasons the Court found it appropriate to do so in *Rosenkrantz*. First, it is "a threshold question that logically precedes the question" before the Court, since the absence of three source items would render moot the question whether any of them included a "direct link" of "association." (Ibid.) Second, the "question is an important one that affects not only the present case but [potentially] numerous other[s]." (*Id.* at p. 637.) Lastly, "the issue properly may be decided as a matter of law. Under the circumstances, we believe that the administration of justice would not be served by leaving this issue unresolved at this juncture." (Ibid.)

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